STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

FEB 26 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CARNAIL MARCHINDLA GRAHAM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-002336

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by refusing to conduct a pretrial hearing to ascertain the reliability of the testimony of Keir Johnson, Sediaka McClam, and Kachief Spain, who were all jailhouse informants, and by failing to determine that the testimony of each of these witnesses was reliable and corroborated before the witness was allowed to testify before the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Horry County Grand Jury indicated Appellant at the July 26, 2012 term of General Sessions for the offense of murder. R. 932. His case was called to trial on October 13, 2014 before the Honorable Steven H. John, and a jury. R. 1. He was tried jointly with his co-defendant, Thomas Booker James. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Nancy R. Livesay and Martin S. Spratlin represented the state, and David J. Canty represented Appellant. Bobby G. Frederick represented James. R. 1.

On October 20, 2014, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 921, l. 22 – 922, l. 14. He was sentenced by Judge John to thirty-two years' imprisonment. R. 928, l. 17 – 929, l. 11.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the early morning hours of November 8, 2011, two men forcibly entered the mobile home shared by Keia Pertelle, her boyfriend Rodney (“Splurge”) McElveen, and her cousin Carlton Dontrell Watts. McElveen was a well-known cocaine dealer and it was believed the intruders were searching for drugs and money. During the course of the burglary and attempted armed robbery, Pertelle was shot and killed. It was disputed during trial whether one of the armed intruders shot Pertelle or whether the fatal shot was inflicted by McElveen, who discharged his .357 Magnum revolver five times during the encounter.

The intruders entered through the front door of the two bedroom mobile home located off of Brown Swamp Road in Conway around three o’clock in the morning. Pertelle was laying on the couch in the living room at the front of the house. McElveen was sleeping in the bedroom he shared with Pertelle and Watts was in his room at the opposite end of the home near the rear of the residence. Watts testified he was laying on his bed listening to music and likely dozed off when he was suddenly awakened by a “big boom” followed by three or four gunshots. He immediately “jumped up” off the bed and “rolled under it” in an effort to hide from the intruders. While he was hiding under the bed, he heard two or three more gunshots, then Pertelle scream, “Splurge, Splurge, they’re breaking in.” After Pertelle screamed, Watts said he heard another two gunshots go off and the intruders yelling, “Where is it? Where is it? We’re not playing. Where is it?”¹ Eventually, it got “real quiet” except for the noise from the home alarm system. Watts testified that he waited several minutes while all was quiet before he fled out the back door of the home. He ran to a man

¹ Watts testified that he did not recognize the voices of the two intruders. R. 99, ll. 18-24; R. 101, ll. 16-18. However, he knew both Appellant and James and had gone to school with one of them, although he never specified which one. R. 98, ll. 5-9.

and a woman who were standing outside near the trailer. They told Watts they heard the gunshots and had already called the police. R. 63, l. 23 – 65, l. 13.

Law enforcement arrived shortly thereafter. Watts testified that one of the officers who responded asked him where the shooting occurred and he pointed to the mobile home he shared with McElveen and Pertelle. Watts also told the officer that two people (McElveen and Pertelle) were still inside. With guns drawn, officers demanded whoever was in the house to come out with their hands up. R. 66, ll. 1-13; R. 103, ll. 12-23. Two or three minutes passed while the officers continued to demand whoever was in the house to come out with their hands up. Eventually, McElveen came out of the home through the backdoor with his hands in the air and informed the police that Pertelle had been shot.² R. 66, ll. 14-19; R. 142, l. 18 – 144, l. 5.

After entering the home and conducting a “protective sweep,” the officers found Pertelle lying on top of the bed located in bedroom she shared with McElveen. She was deceased and had blood on her left chest region. R. 144, l. 6 – 146, l. 15.

David Grissett, who lived in the mobile home park where the burglary occurred, testified that around two or three o’clock in the morning on November 8, 2011, he saw a brown van parked at the end of a road in his neighborhood. The van eventually moved, travelled two streets over, and then returned and parked in the same spot at the end of the street. Grissett testified that he had lived in the neighborhood for over a year and had never seen this van before. He found it suspicious. After the van parked a second time, he called his neighbor, Conswella, because the van was parked in front of her home, and a few other

² On cross-examination of Watts, Appellant’s counsel suggested it took McElveen several minutes to come out of the home because he was destroying drug evidence. See R 103, l. 1 – 104, l. 15.

neighbors to inform them about the presence of the van. Shortly after speaking with his neighbors, he heard numerous gunshots and "a bunch of commotion" coming from Pertelle and McElveen's home. He then saw two people running towards the van, which moved to pick them up. The two people jumped inside the van and it fled the neighborhood. Grissett immediately called 911 and reported the incident. R.117, l. 17 – 120, l. 17. He was unable to clearly see the two people who jumped in the van because it was dark and the neighborhood did not have any street lights. R. 125, ll. 7-23.

A patrol officer who was responding to the scene shortly after the 911 call was made spotted the van driving in the opposite direction. The officer turned around and attempted to pursue the van, but the driver of the van successfully evaded the officer.³

The brown van, which was later identified as a Chevrolet Astro, was located several hours later parked in Tiffany Oliver's yard. Oliver called law enforcement after discovering the van in her yard around 6:45 am because she did not know who it belonged to and did not want it parked in her yard. She testified that the van was not parked there when she went to bed the night before and that her boyfriend did not mention seeing the van when he left for work around 5:00 am. It was parked on the side of her house near a wooded area. R. 176, l. 25 – 180, l. 3.

Officers eventually responded to Oliver's home and towed the van to the police department where it was then processed. Numerous latent fingerprints were lifted from the exterior and interior of the vehicle. R. 202, ll. 19-23; R. 209, l. 14-17. While some of the lifted prints could not be identified, several were found to match Thomas Booker James,

³ Grissett provided a description of the van when he called 911. Dispatch presumably conveyed the description to the patrol officers.

Keir Lamont Johnson, Letitia Tasha Freshley, and Markel Hasheem Rush. R. 223, l. 11 – 224, l. 15. Appellant’s fingerprints were not found anywhere on the van. R. 236, ll. 2-6.

The van belonged to Tiara Brown, who was Keir Johnson’s girlfriend at the time.⁴ R. 508, ll. 3-7. At Johnson’s direction, Brown called the police and reported the van stolen sometime during the morning following the burglary. As a result, Johnson was arrested for “driving without permission with intention to deprive” based on Brown’s report. R. 497, l. 22 – 498, l. 12. Law enforcement interviewed Johnson at length that morning, but he denied any involvement in the burglary and shooting. Instead, he claimed the brown van had been stolen from him the night before. R. 558, l. 21 – 559, l. 7. He posted bond on the vehicle charge the next day, November 9, 2011. R. 497, l. 22 – 498, l. 12. Within a few weeks, Johnson was arrested again and charged with Pertelle’s murder. He continued to deny any involvement. After sitting in jail for five or six months, Johnson changed his story and gave a statement to the police on April 24, 2012 implicating Appellant and James in the burglary and murder. R. 561, l. 12 – 562, l. 6. The assistant solicitor subsequently consented to a low bond being set for Johnson on the murder charge and, as a result, Johnson was released from jail shortly after giving this new statement. R. 613, l. 13 – 614, l. 7.

While out on bond on the murder charge, Johnson was arrested again in April 2013 for first degree burglary and first degree assault and battery. Both of these charges were dismissed by the assistant solicitor before Appellant’s trial. Moreover, Johnson also had pending charges from 2009 for armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the

⁴ Many of the witnesses and relevant individuals in the case have nicknames and are referred to by their nickname throughout the record. For example, Johnson is frequently referred to as “Bootsie,” Appellant is referred to as “Dubba,” and James is referred to as “Cutty.” As mentioned above, Rodney McElveen was frequently referred to as “Splurge.”

commission of a violent crime.⁵ These two charges were dismissed by the assistant solicitor twenty days after Johnson gave his statement in April 2012 implicating Appellant and James in the burglary and murder. R. 598, l. 17 – 599, l. 24; R. 614, l. 8 – 615, l. 6.

Johnson testified against Appellant and James at trial. He claimed Appellant called him during the early morning hours of November 8, 2011 and asked Johnson to take him to purchase drugs. Johnson said he picked up both Appellant and James in the brown van, and at Appellant's direction, drove to McElveen's mobile home. He parked at the end of the dirt road behind McElveen's home, and Appellant and James allegedly got out of the van and went into the house. Johnson continued to maintain that he thought Appellant and James were going to buy drugs. He testified he saw a man watching the van so he circled the block one time and came back to the same spot at the end of the road where he parked again. He eventually saw Appellant and James running towards the van. They allegedly got inside and told Johnson to go. Johnson turned left out of the neighborhood and saw a Horry County patrol car pass by him. The patrol car swerved around and started to follow Johnson, but he was able to get away. R. 485, l. 5 – 486, l. 12; R. 491, l. 7 – 496, l. 9.

Johnson claimed that when they were fleeing the scene, Appellant said, "I think I just killed the bitch. I think I just killed her." He later maintained Appellant said, "I think I just killed that motherfucker. I think I just killed that motherfucker." R. 496, l. 10 – 497, l.

1. Johnson also claimed Appellant threw a gun out the window.⁶ He eventually parked the

⁵ Johnson was out on bond on his 2009 charges at the time of the burglary and attempted armed robbery in this case.

⁶ When prompted by the solicitor with a leading question that was subsequently objected to by Appellant's counsel, Johnson said "both guns" were thrown out the window, but he did not clarify who threw the second gun out the window or who had possession of the second gun. Presumably, Johnson was suggesting that James possessed the second firearm. However, this testimony was never properly explained. R. 497, ll. 4-5.

van in someone's yard, but he could not remember where. Johnson said he then parted ways with Appellant and James, who walked into the wooded area near where he parked the van. Johnson eventually got a ride to his grandmother's house from a Mike Pyatt. R. 497, ll. 2-21.

Investigator John ("Robbie") Caulder with the Horry County Police Department processed the scene after a search warrant was obtained for the mobile home. He testified there was damage to the front door of the home including entry marks from a fired bullet. R. 254, ll. 4-25. He collected two bullet fragments from the front door, multiple bullet fragments from a kitchen cabinet, and a fired bullet from underneath the couch in the living room. In the hallway leading to the bedroom where Pertelle's body was discovered, Caulder observed marks in the floor where a fired bullet had struck and went through the floor, but this bullet was never located. R. 256, l. 25 – 257, l. 23.

In the closet of the bedroom where Pertelle's body was found, Caulder discovered a "Perry Ellis bag with handles." Inside the bag was a .44 caliber Ruger Redhawk revolver with a trigger lock, a box of Remington .357 rounds, two glass measuring cups, a spoon and fork, and two clear plastic bags containing an off-white substance, presumably cocaine. Also in the closet was an SKS rifle and an SKS magazine with eight live rounds. R. 264, l. 10 – 265, l. 1. Additionally, about two weeks after the burglary, a third firearm was discovered inside the house and turned over to law enforcement. Pertelle's father was breaking down the bed where Pertelle's body was found and discovered a handgun in between some pull out drawers on the bed and the mattress. Caulder admitted that he had not looked under the mattress when he was processing the scene and thus did not discover this weapon. This firearm was a .357 Magnum revolver. R. 267, ll. 17-22; R. 297, l. 20 –

298, l. 14. It was undisputed at trial that McElveen had fired this weapon five times during the burglary.

Dr. Edward Proctor, the forensic pathologist who conducted the autopsy, testified Pertelle died from a single gunshot wound to the left chest. The bullet struck her aorta, lung, and vertebral column and was recovered lodged in her back. R. 159, l. 11 – 162, l. 9. The injury caused massive bleeding, which ultimately lead to her death. R. 168, ll. 11-16. Dr. Proctor testified Pertelle would have lost consciousness sometime between a few seconds after she was shot and approximately a minute later and would have been completely deceased within several minutes. R. 163, ll. 12-24. When questioned by Appellant's counsel, Proctor opined that it is unlikely Pertelle would have been able to run thirty to thirty-five feet and jump over an obstacle after she was shot due to the nature of her injury.⁷ R. 172, ll. 6-12.

James Green of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, who was qualified as an expert in firearm identification and examination, testified that he examined the evidence submitted by the Horry County Police Department in this case. Specifically, he examined the .357 Magnum revolver that was fired by McElveen during the burglary, the five fired cartridge cases that were removed from the .357 Magnum revolver, the fired bullet and bullet fragments collected from the mobile home by Investigator Caulder, and the projectile recovered from Pertelle's body during autopsy. R. 353, l. 15 – 355, l. 2.

⁷ Presumably, the purpose of this question was to challenge the state's theory of the case that Pertelle was shot by one the of intruders in the living room located at the front of the mobile home, which was approximately thirty feet from the bedroom where her body was located. The defense argued that it was more likely Pertelle was shot by McElveen, who fired his .357 Magnum revolver five times from the bedroom, as she was running down the hall to the bedroom in an effort to escape from the intruders.

Green testified that State's Exhibit Nos. 67, 68, 69, and 71 (which were the fired bullet and bullet fragments collected from the mobile home) account for a total of five separate fired bullets and that, in his expert opinion, all five of those fired bullets were fired by the .357 Magnum revolver used by McElveen during the burglary. James maintained that the .357 Magnum was a "five-shot revolver," meaning it had five chambers inside the cylinder and could only fire five bullets before the shooter would be forced to reload. R. 355, l. 14 – 362, l. 7. Based on this testimony, the state suggested that all five bullets that could have been fired by the .357 Magnum revolver were accounted for and thus McElveen could not be responsible for shooting Pertelle.

Green further explained that State's Exhibit No. 67 also contained two additional fired bullet fragments recovered from the home, but these fragments were too damaged for him to identify or determine the caliber. Lastly, Green testified about the projectile that was recovered from Pertelle's body, which was marked as State's Exhibit No. 70. He maintained that this bullet "was most consistent with bullets loaded in some .357 Magnum caliber cartridges," meaning it was the correct caliber bullet for use in the .357 Magnum revolver fired by McElveen. However, he claimed that the bullet recovered from Pertelle's body could not have been fired by the .357 Magnum revolver fired by McElveen because the lands and grooves on the bullet did not match the test fired bullets from the .357 Magnum revolver. He concluded there was no possible way for the .357 Magnum revolver to have fired the bullet collected from Pertelle's body. R. 362, l. 8 – 363, l. 10.

Howard Parker, who has known both Appellant and James since childhood, testified that he saw Keir Johnson driving the brown Astro van on two occasions the night that Pertelle was killed. He first saw the van at a gas station in downtown Conway around 11:00

pm. Johnson was standing outside the van and there were several people inside the van, but Parker did not recognize them. Parker later saw the van sometime between 1:00 am and 2:00 am parked outside Billy Freshley's house. He claimed when he saw the van the second time there were three people inside. According to Parker, Johnson was driving and James was the front seat passenger. However, while he could see the silhouette of a third person in the back of the van, Parker was unable to identify this individual. R. 400, l. 17 – 405, l. 8. He described the individual as approximately five feet, four inches in height.⁸ R. 424, ll. 13-17.

When Parker saw the van the second time, he was sitting outside Billy Freshley's house in a parked car with Terry Bease, who Parker hung out with most of that night. On cross-examination, Parker denied telling law enforcement that Bease set up the burglary and attempted armed robbery with Lavena Jackson, who was Pertelle's cousin. He further denied telling the police that Lavena Jackson called Bease that night while they were in the parked car and told him that McElveen ("Splurge") would be a good target to rob and that she had seen McElveen bring cocaine and money into the mobile home earlier that night.⁹ He also denied telling the police that Bease passed this information on to Billy Freshley.

⁸ On cross-examination, Parker testified that Appellant is six feet, two inches tall. R. 438, ll. 18-21.

⁹ Carlton Watts, who lived in the mobile home with Pertelle and McElveen, testified that Lavena Jackson visited their home the night Pertelle was killed. R. 97, ll. 5-14. Moreover, Bease admitted that he spoke to Jackson that night and his telephone records confirm this communication. R. 392, l. 22 – 393, l. 16. The testimony from Watts and Bease corroborates the statement Parker gave to law enforcement in December 2011 indicating that Jackson told Bease she had seen McElveen bring cocaine and money into the mobile home the night of the burglary and that Jackson and Bease planned the attempted armed robbery together.

Parker claimed that if he told the police this information he was either lying or speculating because he had no way of knowing such information. R. 418, l. 24 – 423, l. 25.

Sedieka McClam, who admitted he was currently incarcerated on federal drug charges at Williamsburg Correctional Institution and has numerous prior convictions involving drugs, claimed he had information about this case.¹⁰ R. 645, l. 15 – 646, l. 15. He testified that sometime during the middle of December 2011 he met a woman at Third Avenue Bar and Grill and the two exchanged telephone numbers. He contacted this woman the next day and she invited him to her apartment at Huckabee Heights in Conway. McClam claimed when he arrived at the apartment the woman told him “she had a friend that was in the kitchen by the name of Dubba.”¹¹ McClam testified that he “smoked a couple of blunts, blunts of reefer” in the living room with the woman and the man supposedly named Dubba. He claimed he had never seen Dubba before, but described him as a black male, six feet two inches in height, and about two hundred and twenty pounds with tattoos on his arms.

According to McClam, while the three were smoking marijuana, Dubba received a telephone call and McClam was able to overhear Dubba’s conversation with the person on the other end. McClam claimed Dubba began talking about the burglary and attempted armed robbery at McElveen and Pertelle’s home. Specifically, Dubba allegedly said that

¹⁰ On cross-examination, McClam clarified that his prior record consisted of convictions in 2004 for distribution of crack cocaine and failure to stop for a blue light, and in 2011 for possession with intent to distribute a controlled substance (“pills”) and possession of a stolen weapon. These were his state convictions. He also had federal convictions for possession with intent to distribute marijuana, cocaine, and crack cocaine, along with unlawful possession of a firearm. These federal convictions were the reason for his incarceration at the time of Appellant’s trial. R. 654, l. 16 – 655, l. 22.

¹¹ As noted above, Dubba was supposedly Appellant’s nickname.

“he was sorry for what happened to Keia [Pertelle]” and “[t]hat he panicked when he went through the door and just started shooting.” R. 646, l. 16 – 648, l. 22. He also allegedly said the incident happened in “Brown Swamp.” R. 649, ll. 18-20.

McClam eventually wrote a letter to the solicitor’s office detailing the information he supposedly had pertaining to this case. He admitted he wrote the letter “because in federal prison if you cooperate with the government, the federal government or state, they will give you time back.” R. 648, ll. 23-25; R. 651, ll. 1-8. He explained he was arrested by federal authorities on January 3, 2012, shortly after he allegedly overheard this conversation and that he has been continually incarcerated since. R. 651, l. 13 – 652, l. 2.

On cross-examination, McClam testified that if a federal inmate gives the government information during what is called a “debriefing” he or she can receive a “downward departure,” or “time cut,” and if the inmate testifies at a trial, even after being sentenced, the inmate can receive a second or even “bigger” downward departure. McClam admitted he was hoping to receive a downward departure because of his testimony against Appellant at trial. R. 656, l. 12 – 658, l. 10.

Counsel for James went through with McClam the letter he wrote to the solicitor in more detail. In this letter, McClam told the solicitor that when Dubba answered the telephone he said, “What’s going on, Cutty?”¹² Dubba then allegedly went on to say that “they never should have went to Brown Swamp,” that “he panicked when he went through the front door and saw Keia [Pertelle] jump up, and he started shooting,” that “he didn’t mean to shoot his gun six or seven times,” and that “they went to rob Keia’s boyfriend, Splurge.” R. 660, l. 3 – 663, l. 12. McClam also wrote in the letter that after Dubba talked

¹² As noted above, Cutty is supposedly the nickname for Thomas Booker James.

to Cutty about the details of the burglary and shooting, he allegedly “asked Cutty to tell Lil Bootsie to come pick him up in about an hour” and that eventually a blue Chevrolet Astro van pulled up outside and Dubba left.¹³ According to McClam’s letter, he watched Dubba get inside the blue Astro van with Cutty and Bootsie, who was driving, and the three drove away. R. 663, l. 13 – 664, l. 17.

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