ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge**

**RECEIVED
FEB 23 2016
SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

CARNAIL MARCHINDLA GRAHAM,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2014-002336.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motion for a preliminary reliability hearing regarding jailhouse informant testimony because the witnesses were available for cross-examination.

How the Issue Arose

Anticipating the State to present jailhouse informant testimony, Appellant's trial counsel, Mr. Canty, moved for an *in limine* reliability hearing with relaxed rules of evidence "for the purpose of producing evidence against [Appellant], the motive [the witnesses] may have to lie, the difficulty of disproving [the witnesses'] testimony, [the witnesses'] relationship to [Appellant] and for the State to provide any corroboration that they may have to his account." (R. p. 2, line 2 – p. 3, line 10). Mr. Canty sought for the trial court to itself adduce the viability of informant testimony. (R. p. 5, lines 2-6).

The trial court denied the motion. (R. p. 5, lines 7-11). In so denying, the trial court pointed out that any statements made by the jailhouse witnesses, and related inconsistencies, are ripe for cross-examination and that counsel would "have [a] full and complete opportunity to cross-examine all the witnesses" including any admissible excerpts from the witnesses' criminal records. (R. p. 3, line 17 – p. 4, line 8). The trial court gave counsel leeway to ask the informants in a limited fashion about whether they had been charged with any crimes, or received a bond on any pending charge, between the time of Appellant's arrest and trial. (R. p. 4, lines 9-21). The trial court so ruled in order for the jury "to be able to judge the credibility and believability and anything that might tend to give them an insight as to the purposes of [the informants'] testimony." (R. p. 4, line 22 – p. 5, line 1). The trial court did not foreclose the possibility of conducting an *in limine* hearing prior to an informant's testimony on matters related to his or her

criminal history. (R. p. 5, lines 12-19).

Standard of Review

“A trial judge has broad discretion in supervising cross-examination with regard to bias or prejudice,” *Norris v. Ferre*, 315 S.C. 179, 182, 432 S.E.2d 491, 493 (Ct. App. 1993), and “in ruling on the admissibility of the testimony.” *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 647, 515 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1999). “The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion,” which “occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011) (internal quotations omitted).

Cross-examination provides the appropriate trial vehicle for exploring and impugning jailhouse informant, and co-defendant, testimony

The trial court committed no error in denying Appellant’s motion because South Carolina does not follow the rule adopted by the jurisdictions cited by Appellant. A trial court is not required to find corroborating evidence before allowing a jailhouse informant to testify on the State’s behalf.⁴ (*See* Br. of Appellant, p. 23-25). The proper method of impugning a jailhouse informant’s credibility, as with any other witness, is through cross-examination. “[T]he Confrontation Clause ‘guarantees only an **opportunity** for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.’” *State v. Stokes*, 381 S.C. 390, 401-02, 673

⁴ In contrast, a preliminary finding of corroboration would be required regarding the admissibility of an exculpatory, out-of-court statement made by an unavailable declarant. *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 342-43, 748 S.E.2d 914, 207 (2013).

S.E.2d 434, 439-40 (2009) (quoting *United States v. Owens*, 484 U.S. 554, 559, 108 S.Ct. 838, 842 (1988) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted) (emphasis in original)). “Indeed, the opponent’s opportunity for cross-examination has been deemed the ‘main and essential purpose of confrontation.’” *Id.* at 402, 673 S.E.2d at 440 (quoting *Delaware v. Fensterer*, 474 U.S. 15, 19–20, 106 S.Ct. 292, 294 (1985) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).

Where there exists a “substantial possibility [a jailhouse informant] would give biased testimony in an effort to have the solicitor highlight to his future trial judge how he had cooperated in the instant case,” that witness’ pending charges are probative on the issue of bias and therefore admissible on cross-examination. *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 25-26, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002) (citing Rule 608(c), SCRE (“bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced”)). “Proof of bias is almost always relevant because the jury, as finder of fact and weigher of credibility, has historically been entitled to assess all evidence which might bear on the accuracy and truth of a witness’ testimony.” *State v. Pipkin*, 359 S.C. 322, 327, 597 S.E.2d 831, 833 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *United States v. Abel*, 469 U.S. 45, 52, 105 S.Ct. 465, 469 (1984)). This rule of evidence “preserves South Carolina precedent holding that generally, ‘anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony.’” *State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 570, 541 S.E.2d 813, 817 (2001) (quoting *State v. Brewington*, 267 S.C. 97, 226 S.E.2d 249 (1976)). *Jones*, akin to *State v. Sims*, *supra*, held that a murder defendant should be allowed to cross-examine his alleged accomplice,

whose credibility was found to be “the central issue” in the case, about past dealings between the accomplice and the office prosecuting the defendant for the purpose of exposing any bias. *Jones* at 570-71, 541 S.E.2d at 817-18.

Considering the tools available for Appellant to point out the informants’ potential prejudices, the trial court correctly denied Appellant’s request for a preliminary reliability hearing with “relaxed rules of evidence for the purpose of producing evidence against [him].” (R. p. 3, lines 2-6). The rules of evidence and procedure do not work to prevent either (1) the State from calling jailhouse informants to testify without first conducting a preliminary hearing as to the reliability of their proposed testimony, (2) Appellant’s thorough cross-examination of those witnesses in reply, (3) Appellant’s ability to call his own witnesses to further discredit the informants’ testimony, or (4) to argue against those witnesses’ credibility in closing argument. The toolbox of rules with which Appellant must work before the jury does not afford a windfall to question these witnesses *in limine* under oath and under “relaxed rules of evidence” to garner information otherwise gleaned from discovery and pre-trial witness interviews. Trial counsel has other means available to acquaint himself with potential trial testimony prior to the calling of the case for trial.

This case is not unlike *Jones* and *Sims* in the manner and method in which defense counsel acted to impugn the State’s witnesses. The record establishes that Appellant had a full and complete opportunity to confront the jailhouse witnesses regarding potential bias. Pre-trial, Appellant’s counsel moved for the State to compel NCIC reports on the three jailhouse witnesses—Keir “Bootsie” Johnson, Sedioka McClam, and Kachief Spain. (R. p. 111, lines 4-10). The trial court granted the request,

ensuring that Appellant's counsel had these witnesses' NCIC reports the morning prior to their testimony. (R. p. 237, line 15 – p. 239, line 4). The trial court also conducted *in limine* hearing prior to jailhouse witness testimony to review and discuss the admissibility of each witness' criminal history pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE.

First, the trial court conducted an *in limine* hearing regarding defense counsel's proposed questioning of jailhouse witness and co-defendant Keir "Bootsie" Johnson. It became clear during this hearing that in order to highlight Bootsie's potential bias and prejudice to testify against Appellant, defense counsel would attempt to establish that it was not until six months after Bootsie was charged with the victim's murder that he made a statement implicating the Appellant and his co-defendant. (R. p. 447, line 2 – p. 456, line 21). Thereafter, Bootsie received a bond on his murder charge and had a pre-existing charges for burglary and possession of a firearm dismissed. The trial court also noted the admissibility of Bootsie's prior petit larceny conviction, excluded any magistrate court convictions, and reviewed the extent of questioning allowed on these topics. (R. p. 456, line 22 – p. 473, line 22). Bootsie was duly cross-examined on these points, as well as the total number of statements made to law enforcement, his admitted falsehoods in the first of those statements, and other marked details and inconsistencies divulged to law enforcement over the course of the investigation. (R. p. 505, line 15 – p. 595, line 12).

Second, the trial court took up the extent of jailhouse informant Sedioka McClaim's criminal history and whether he was subject to any pending federal proffer for a downward departure in sentencing at the time of Appellant's trial. (R. p. 633, line 2 – p. 638, line 5). In regards to any dismissed charges, counsel established that McClaim did have charges dismissed, but the dismissal months prior to providing law enforcement

information on the present case. (R. p. 638, lines 6-25). Those charges were ruled inadmissible unless McClam interjected their existence through his own testimony. (R. p. 640, lines 18-22). As with Bootsie, the trial court allowed cross-examination regarding whether McClam “entered into any kind of arrangement, has some kind of understanding,” or “hopes [for] some kind of leniency or reward from his testimony.” (R. p. 640, line 3 – p. 641, line 7). As for admissible, impeachable convictions, the court green-lighted McClam’s possession with intent to distribute of crack cocaine, failure to stop for a blue light, and possession of cocaine convictions which he incurred within ten years of Appellant’s trial. (R. p. 642, line 1 – p. 643, line 20). Defense counsel also highlighted McClam’s pending charge for possession with intent to distribute prescription drugs, along with two pending charges for possession of a stolen weapon. (R. p. 643, line 21 – p. 644, line 12). During his cross-examination, defense counsel additionally succeeded in discrediting McClam by exemplifying that although McClam testified as to witnessing Bootsie pick up Appellant from the location where McClam overheard the exculpatory phone conversation, Bootsie was actually incarcerated at that time.⁵ (R. p. 662, line 10 – p. 666, line 18).

Lastly, Appellant’s counsel was also able to cross-examine the final jailhouse witness, Kachief Spain, regarding the length of his current sentence and his potential to garner a sentence reduction in exchange for the information regarding Appellant’s case. (R. p. 696, lines 16-25; R. p. 699, line 10 – p. 700, line 7). The State established at the

⁵ The phone conversation was between Appellant and co-defendant Cutty. (R. p. 662, lines 10-14). McClam testified that as part of that phone conversation, Appellant asked Cutty to have “Lil Bootsie” pick him up from Appellant and McClam’s location. (R. p. 663, lines 13-15).

outset of Spain's testimony that he was in the custody of the Edgefield Federal Corrections Institute on a possession of a firearm charge, and that he previously incurred charges for second degree burglary, strong arm robbery, and armed robbery. (R. p. 680, line 22 – p. 681, line 9). It appears that the trial court did not afford Spain's testimony an independent *in limine* hearing, but did review Spain's interactions with federal prosecutors in tandem with the *in limine* hearing on McClam's criminal history. (R. p. 634, line 15 – p. 637, line 20).

Appellant enjoyed leeway in cross-examining Bootsie, McClam, and Spain regarding inconsistencies in their prior statements to law enforcement and prior criminal records, including specific arrests and dispositions of bond incurred between Appellant's arrest and trial. A preliminary hearing to fetter out the witnesses' reliability, or a judicial determination of the same, is not necessary, because it is the jury's role to assign weight to the jailhouse informants' testimony. The jury must determine the effect, value, weight, and truth of the evidence presented at trial, including how the jailhouse informants came to know the facts about which they testified, an informant's motive for testifying, the presence or absence of corroborating evidence, and any other fact the jury may find relevant on the credibility issue. That role does not rest within the trial court. Appellant's motion was properly denied.⁶

⁶ Respondent asserts that this issue does not lend itself to a traditional harmless error analysis. Regardless of whether the trial court granted the motion for a preliminary reliability hearing, the motion requested an improper judicial determination on the weight to be assigned to witness testimony, not whether their testimony was allowed. Respondent also notes that each jailhouse witness' testimony finds corroboration in the other jailhouse witnesses.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the Appellant's murder conviction.